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For Rosemary




Author’s note


Figures for the composition of the First Fleet are notoriously unreliable. The numbers quoted by officers who sailed with the fleet rarely tally. Where primary sources contradict each other, I have followed the numbers used by Mollie Gillen in her book The Founders of Australia: A Biographical Dictionary of the First Fleet. The spelling of convicts’ names is another source of disagreement, long past any hope of resolution.




Introduction


Exactly ten years after the First Fleet sailed into Botany Bay, David Collins published his Account of the English Colony in New South Wales. Collins’s book was not the first account of the colony to hit the English market – Governor Arthur Phillip had published his version in 1789 and Captain Watkin Tench of the marines had published two volumes by 1793 – but it was the most sensational.


As deputy judge advocate (he was also described, confusingly, as judge advocate), Collins knew all about the darker side of the government’s social experiment. He realised that many of the convicts were incorrigible, and that a good number of the marines sent out to guard them were not much better. He reported the disgraceful behaviour he observed, and had no doubt that grog was largely to blame for it.


The word ‘drunkenness’, which did not appear at all in the hundreds of pages written by Phillip and Tench, peppered Collins’s narrative of the colony’s first years. The convicts had hardly disembarked when Collins was lamenting their eagerness to get drunk on spirits smuggled ashore at night by the sailors. Next he bemoaned the ‘affrays and disorders’ committed by drunken marines. After that it was the settlers, whose homes were ‘nothing else but porterhouses, where rioting and drunkenness prevailed as long as the means remained’.


So it went on, a catalogue of alcohol-fuelled crime and debauchery.


Nor was Collins alone in concluding that alcohol was at the heart of all the colony’s problems. ‘[V]ice of almost every kind prevails,’ wrote Richard Atkins, Collins’s successor as deputy judge advocate and himself a notorious pisspot. ‘Gaming, whoring, and drunkenness stalk in broad day without the least check. Religion is laughed at, the Saboth profaned … neither civil or religious rites are observed.’


In a sermon published in London under the title ‘An address to the inhabitants of the colonies established in New South Wales and Norfolk Island’, the colony’s first chaplain, Richard Johnson, railed against the convicts’ propensity ‘to steal, to break the sabbath, to be guilty of uncleanness, drunkenness, and other abominations’.


Johnson’s successor, Samuel Marsden, reported Sydney to be a place of ‘drunkenness, gaming and debaucheries’.


The perception of perpetual drunkenness continued to be reflected back from London in the form of royal instructions to incoming governors to control the liquor trade and stamp out illegal distilling.


The colony’s reputation for intoxication stuck for another 150 years, regularly revived by writers such as Manning Clark and Robert Hughes. In his 1986 blockbuster The Fatal Shore, Hughes declared that between 1790 and 1820 ‘nearly all the men and most of the women were addicted to rum’.


If everybody had been as drunk as Hughes suggests, the colony would scarcely have been able to feed itself, let alone grow surpluses and prosper. Yet comments like Hughes’s, rooted in the scathing observations of early chroniclers such as David Collins, testify to the appeal of this founding myth of European settlement.


Recognising the failure of his predecessors’ attempts to control the rum trade, Governor Lachlan Macquarie declared in 1810 that ‘it would be good and sound policy to sanction the free importation of good spirits’. Within a few years, grog was showing signs of becoming respectable – or as respectable as it ever would be. A strict licence system was in place to keep publicans (many of whom were women) honest, or honest enough.


Among the ex-convict landlords was a man named James Squires (or Squire), a chicken thief from Kingston upon Thames who turned himself into a successful brewer. By the time he died in 1822, Squires was one of the colony’s most respected citizens, renowned for making beer ‘of an excellent quality’. His funeral was said to be the largest Sydney had ever seen.


Over three decades of supposedly incorrigible drunkenness, the men and women of New South Wales transformed the colony from a squalid and starving convict settlement into a prosperous trading port with fashionable Georgian street names and a monumental two-storey hospital built by private contractors in exchange for a monopoly on rum.


The story of grog is the story of Australia (and perhaps vice versa). This is how it all began.




1


A great many casks


As the 11 ships of the First Fleet loitered off the Isle of Wight, a corpse floated alongside the Lady Penrhyn, a transport packed with 109 female convicts. The corpse, ‘sew’d up in a hammock’, was noticed by Arthur Bowes Smyth, the Lady Penrhyn’s 36-year-old surgeon, who considered the incident interesting enough to write about it that night in his journal. Another corpse bobbed past a few days afterwards. A fortnight later, gazing over the choppy waters of the English Channel towards the Lizard, Smyth saw, ‘A great many Casks of Geneva [Dutch gin] floating on the water of which the Fishburn pick’d up 35 & the Scarborough 25. A Lugger from Falmouth came alongside, all Hands in her very drunk.’ Bodies and booze: between them, they hinted at what lay ahead for Britain’s far-flung penal colony.


In eighteenth-century England, death – and particularly the risk of death – was never far away. While strolling around the churchyard at Stokes Bay, not far from Portsmouth, Smyth observed a ‘prodigious number of tomb stones’. Three days later, he reported the death of an infant named Hugh Sandlyn, whose mother was a convict. The same day, a boat belonging to another convict ship, the Alexander, overturned, tipping the first mate and five sailors into the sea. (Fortunately, they survived.)


Before the fleet had even set sail, disease swept through two of the transports, including the Lady Penrhyn, killing 11 convicts and an unknown number of sailors and marines. Smyth himself was the unwitting beneficiary of one death. His cabin on the Lady Penrhyn had previously belonged to the third mate, Jenkinson, who ‘died of a putrid fever the night before I came on board’.


Although he practised as a surgeon and midwife, Smyth had no formal training in medicine. In that respect, he was not very different from the motley cast of soldiers and stocking weavers and buckle makers who, in the years to come, would have to reinvent themselves as farmers, builders and brewers in the new colony.


After coming down from London on the Portsmouth mail coach, Smyth boarded the Lady Penrhyn on 22 March 1787. By then, third mate Jenkinson’s cabin had been freshly painted and fumigated. Smyth found the fleet ‘in hourly expectation of the arrival of Governor Phillip’. But it would be another seven weeks before Phillip and the fleet were ready to embark. During that time, Smyth and his colleagues, and the convicts already on board the transports, could do nothing but wait.


On 19 April word reached Portsmouth ‘that Governor Phillip’s business is at last all finally settled & he may be expected at the Mother Bank on Saturday next’. There was no sign of Phillip the following Saturday or the one after that, but on 7 May rumours began to circulate that ‘Governor Phillip is come down’. The next day Smyth noted gloomily, ‘Governor expected on board but did not come.’ It was not until 9 May, nearly four months after the first convicts had shuffled aboard the transports, that Smyth was finally able to report, ‘The Governor came on board the Sirius this forenoon.’


Phillip had spent those four months battling with the Navy Board and the Treasury to have the fleet fitted out as he wanted.


Britain had more than half a century’s experience of shipping its felons overseas, but none of it boded well for the nearly 800 convicts hunkered in the darkness between decks on the six transport ships of the First Fleet.


In the decade before the American Revolution, Britain had employed private contractors to ship around a thousand convicts a year to America. In 1778 one of the major contractors, Duncan Campbell, told a House of Commons committee on transportation that ‘upon an average 10 is considered a moderate loss out of 100’; after seven years, it was expected that a seventh of all convicts would have died either in gaol or on board.


Crossing the Atlantic took just six weeks, but the Home Office estimated that it would take much longer – eight months – for the First Fleet to reach Botany Bay. The voyage would have been arduous enough for men and women who had set out from England fit and healthy, but the convicts assigned to the First Fleet were anything but. Culled from disease-ridden county prisons and from overcrowded hulks anchored in the River Thames, many were in a wretched condition before they embarked.


David Collins, the future deputy judge advocate, was not alone in predicting that before the fleet had been a month at sea, one of the six transports would have to be converted into a hospital ship. The Bath Chronicle speculated that ‘the first land that two thirds of [the convicts] will reach will be the bottom of the sea, there to make their final deposit in the bosom of the great deep’.


These dire prophecies did not reckon on the character or capabilities of Arthur Phillip. Born in 1738, Phillip had been at sea since the age of 16. During the Seven Years’ War, he had seen active service against the French and Spanish Navies before retiring on half-pay to manage his properties in Hampshire. Later, with the Admiralty’s permission, he served in the Portuguese Navy while working secretly for the British Government, gathering valuable information about Spanish and Portuguese activities in America. This intelligence work brought him to the attention of influential political figures who saw in Phillip a reliable, conscientious and practical man with the personality and skills needed to carry out the government’s plan to establish a penal settlement at Botany Bay.


On seeing the pitiful state of the female convicts, Phillip protested furiously to Evan Nepean, the wily and capable under-secretary at the Home Office. He railed at the magistrates who had sent the women aboard the Lady Penrhyn ‘almost naked’, and so feeble and filthy that a fever had broken out on the ship before they could be adequately clothed.


Weak and malnourished, the convicts had little chance of lasting the voyage out unless Phillip could build them up during the months the fleet lay idle in the English Channel. Writing to the home secretary, Lord Sydney, Phillip pleaded for orders to be given enabling him to supply both marines and convicts with fresh meat and vegetables while they remained at Spithead. At the same time, he asked for ‘a small quantity of wine’ to give to those already sick.


Although his immediate concern was the convicts’ health, Phillip was already thinking ahead to what they would need when they reached New South Wales. The food and equipment allocated to the settlement struck him as hopelessly inadequate for a colony that would have to be self-sustaining for months, perhaps years. ‘The number of scythes (only six), of razors (only five dozen), and the quantity of buck and small shot (only two hundred lb.), now ordered, is very insufficient,’ he told Nepean.


Phillip’s demands for more and better provisions were so relentless that the navy’s procurement system could not cope. In the end, an exasperated Navy Board abandoned its own rules and advised Captain George Teer, the agent for transports at Deptford naval docks, to give Phillip anything he asked for ‘without waiting for our further orders’.


As governor of the new colony, Phillip understood all too well that he would get the blame if the scheme went bad. His great worry was that hundreds would die before the fleet reached Botany Bay and that he would be held responsible for deficiencies in the fitting out and victualling (that is, supplying provisions) of the ships. Chief among his concerns was the failure to provide antiscorbutics to fend off scurvy, the disease caused by lack of vitamin C that had killed thousands of British sailors.


Reminding Lord Sydney that the contracts for the fleet had been drawn up and signed ‘before I ever saw the Navy Board on this business’, Phillip also protested about the absence of flour from the marines’ rations, contrary to the navy’s usual practice. Phillip was convinced that if salt meat were to be issued ‘without any proportion of flour … the scurvy must prove fatal to the greatest part’ of the marines and convicts. The blunt fact, he warned Sydney, was that the fleet was being sent ‘to the extremity of the globe’ as if it were being sent to America – a six-week passage.


‘I have only one fear,’ Phillip confided to Sydney, ‘that it may be said hereafter the officer who took charge of the expedition should have known that it was more than probable he lost half the garrison and convicts, crowded and victualled in such a manner for so long a voyage. And the public … may impute to my ignorance or inattention what I have never been consulted in, and which never coincided with my ideas.’


An outbreak of typhus on board the Alexander confirmed Phillip’s worst fears. Writing to Nepean at the Home Office, he demanded the Royal Navy supply lighters to take off the convicts while the ship was cleaned and smoked, and repeated his request for antiscorbutics. At the same time, he protested that the fresh meat he had asked for on behalf of all the convicts had not arrived; only the sick were receiving fresh meat. He also reminded Nepean that wine ‘at the discretion of the surgeon’ was necessary for the sick, as the convicts were not allowed anything more than water.


If decisive action were not taken to stop disease spreading through the rest of the fleet, Phillip warned, ‘it may be too late … and we may expect to see the seamen belonging to the transports run from the ships to avoid a jail distemper, and may be refused entrance into a foreign port’.


Typhus, however, was not the only disease the seamen and marines of the First Fleet risked catching from the convicts. ‘This day Lieut. Johnston … issued orders to keep the Women from the Sailors,’ Arthur Bowes Smyth noted in his journal in the first week of April.


Johnston’s orders had little effect. At ten o’clock on the night of 19 April, Johnston and Lieutenant William Collins went down into the women’s berths and took a roll call. They found five female convicts missing; four were found with sailors and one was caught with the second mate. All five were segregated and put in irons, while Johnston wrote to the commander of the marines, Major Ross, asking for the second mate to be removed from the ship.


The gender imbalance among the convicts on the First Fleet – approximately 580 male and 190 female convicts were embarked at Portsmouth – raised concerns that, unless more women were brought to the colony, the infant settlement would be unable to regenerate itself. Those concerns were aggravated by the fear of venereal disease running riot aboard the transports. In a long document outlining his plans for the social development of the colony, Phillip had stated his determination to leave behind any convicts suffering from such diseases.


Later, in an anguished letter to Nepean, Phillip lamented the ‘many venereal complaints’ on board the Lady Penrhyn that ‘must spread in spite of every precaution I may take hereafter’.


Draconian measures to prevent infection would continue after the fleet arrived in Botany Bay. The Norfolk Island regulations posted in December 1791 declared that anyone found concealing a venereal disorder from the surgeon would be flogged and put on short rations for six months.


After the convicts themselves and the ships’ crews, the largest group aboard the First Fleet was the detachment of marines, some of them accompanied by wives and children. In recognition of the hardships they were expected to face, the Admiralty had called for volunteers. All but two of the 212 men who signed up to form the garrison at Botany Bay did so by choice. But those who enlisted under the illusion that their primary role was to be military would soon realise their mistake.


The official objective of the marine corps, as outlined by Lord Sydney in 1786, had been to form a military establishment on shore ‘not only for the protection of the settlement, if required, against the natives, but for the preservation of good order’. In practice, the primary role of the marines, both during the voyage and after the fleet landed in New South Wales, would be that of gaolers.


While the convicts had been largely docile as the fleet waited off the Isle of Wight – the commander of the marine corps, Major Ross, described them as ‘perfectly satisfied and obedient’ – the fear of a convict uprising was ever-present. Less than four years earlier, on 16 August 1783, a British ship, the Swift, had sailed for America with 143 convicts. The American Revolution had put an end to the transportation of British convicts across the Atlantic, so the men on the Swift were falsely described on the ship’s manifest as indentured servants. Near Rye on the Sussex coast, some of the convicts rose against the crew and escaped after running the ship aground. Their freedom was short-lived. The mutineers were all recaptured and charged with the capital offence of ‘returning before expiry … being at large within the kingdom’. Six men judged to be ringleaders of the mutiny were executed; the rest had their death sentences commuted to transportation and were sent back to the hulks.


A year later, another transport, the Mercury, sailed for America laden with 179 convicts. Off the Devon coast, a group of them mutinied. Some made it to dry land but others were drowned in rough seas. All the survivors were eventually recaptured and returned to the hulks to await transportation.


Among the convicts on the First Fleet were a number of the mutineers from the Swift and the Mercury, including a forger and thief named Thomas Barrett, who would feature prominently (if briefly) in the court proceedings of the new colony.


The transport ships had been modified to resist any attempted mutiny by the convicts. Philip Gidley King, second lieutenant on the Sirius, detailed the security measures in his journal. Thick wooden bulkheads filled with nails ran between decks. These had been bored with holes to allow the marines to fire ‘in case of irregularities’. The hatches, secured with crossbars, bolts and locks, were nailed in place. Behind the mainmast on the upper deck, a metre-high barricade ‘armed with pointed prongs of Iron’ prevented any connection between the marines and sailors on one side and the convicts on the other. Guards were placed at the various hatchways and an armed marine was permanently stationed on the quarterdeck of each transport ‘in order to prevent any improper behaviour of the Convicts, as well as to guard [against] any surprize’.


The marines were sailing to Botany Bay as free men and volunteers, yet their rations and living conditions were scarcely better than those of the convicts they were guarding, and the punishments they suffered were often harsher – a grievance that would be felt even more strongly once they reached New South Wales.


The outbreaks of ‘gaol fever’ and dysentery on the transports claimed the lives of several marines. ‘Since the time of their first embarkation,’ Major Ross wrote in a letter to the Admiralty secretary Sir Philip Stephens, ‘no less than one serjeant, one drummer, and fourteen privates have been sent sick on shore from [the Alexander], some of whom … are since dead.’


As far as Ross was concerned, the quarters allocated to the marines were so unhealthy that sickness was inevitable. Berthed on a deck directly below the sailors, the marines on board the Alexander had to breathe the putrid air drifting from the hatchway that led from the seamen’s quarters. If soldiers were falling sick and dying even before the ships left England, how many more would succumb once the fleet lay becalmed in the morbid heat and humidity of the tropics?


If the marines’ accommodation was inadequate, their rations were even worse. In his plaintive letter to Stephens, Major Ross recounted ‘a scene of distress that I was witness to yesterday when visiting the transports at the Motherbank. In one of them I found a marine, his wife, and two children living upon a ration and a half of provisions.’ Ross felt doubly betrayed since he had previously given his word to the marines under his command that their wives and children would be properly looked after.


In the course of the eight-month voyage to Botany Bay, Ross would develop a burning antipathy towards Governor Phillip, but during the weeks before the fleet set sail he needed Phillip’s help to right an even more egregious wrong than putrid living quarters and short rations: the government was planning to rob the marines of their grog.


The daily ration for the marines on the First Fleet, which had barely changed in a century, included half a pint of rum and one gallon of beer, matter-of-factly described by Captain Watkin Tench as ‘the usual quantity of beer allowed in the navy’. According to navy regulations, the same ration was due to every man on the ship, from the captain down to the cabin boy.


The Royal Navy had a long history of technical and administrative innovation, but provisioning for a voyage into the Southern Ocean was at the outer limits of its expertise. While constant development continued to reduce the spoilage of food shipped in casks, seamen and marines bitterly resented the monotony of the diet. At a gallon per man per day, the supply of beer didn’t last long, and in any case it soon spoilt. After a few weeks even the water began to go bad; wine or vinegar sometimes had to be tipped in to mask the smell. With little else to look forward to, it was no wonder that British sailors came to depend on their daily rum ration.


The origins of the sailors’ rum ration went back to England’s capture of Jamaica from the Spanish in 1655. Before that, the navy doled out French brandy. Using rum from Jamaica, Trinidad and other Caribbean islands, the Royal Navy began to manufacture its own exclusive blend. Long after the beer had soured or been drunk away, rum enabled sailors and marines – many of whom had been press-ganged into service – to forget the hardships of life at sea.


Until 1740 it was issued neat: a quarter of a pint twice a day. During that time drunkenness became an endemic problem on Royal Navy ships, made worse by the tendency of lighter drinkers to make extra money by selling their allowance to old hands who thought nothing of drinking two or three times the standard allowance.


On 21 August 1740 at Port Royal, Jamaica, Vice Admiral Edward Vernon – nicknamed ‘Old Grog’ on account of the coarse grogram cloak he liked to wear – issued his notorious ‘Order to Captains No. 349’, which noted the ‘fatal Effects’ on morals as well as health of the ‘pernicious Custom’ of sailors downing their daily rum allowance in one go. Vernon’s solution was for the daily allowance of half a pint per man:






to be mixed with a quart of water … in one Scuttled Butt kept for that purpose, and to be done upon Deck, and in the presence of the Lieutenant of the Watch, who is to see that the men are not defrauded of their allowance of Rum … and let those that are good husband men receive extra lime juice and sugar that it be made more palatable to them.








The new concoction, referred to as ‘grog’ after its inventor, did not go down well with the sailors but – thanks to the lime juice – may have helped reduce the toll caused by scurvy. While the proportion of water to spirits was set by Vernon at four to one, in practice it was up to the ship’s captain to decide how much rum went into the mix. John Nicol, a cooper by trade who spent a quarter of a century at sea, witnessed a mutiny on the Defiance, a 74-gun warship lying at anchor near Leith in Scotland, when the captain issued his crew with ‘five-water grog’ instead of the less diluted ‘three-water’ they were expecting. ‘The weather was cold,’ recalled Nicol. ‘The spirit thus reduced was, as the mutineers called it, as thin as muslin and quite unfit to keep out the cold.’


For the marines sailing with the First Fleet, a bigger problem loomed over the horizon than the amount of water in the grog. According to the terms and conditions of their service, once they arrived in New South Wales they faced having their allowance cut off altogether. In a letter to the Lords of the Admiralty dated 31 August 1786, Lord Sydney promised that the marines would be ‘properly victualled by a commissary immediately after their landing’. While the meaning appeared clear enough, the wording of Sydney’s letter left considerable doubt as to who would be picking up the tab: the government or the marines themselves.


In November the Lords of the Admiralty replied to Sydney’s letter, noting that while on board His Majesty’s ships, the marines were victualled on the same terms as the seamen, without any deduction from their pay, and asking him to clarify whether this arrangement would continue after the marines had gone ashore at Botany Bay.


Nepean, who was under pressure to control costs as far as possible, added to the confusion by advising the Navy Board that both marines and convicts should ‘after their landing [in New South Wales] be victualled in the same manner as the troops serving in the West India islands, excepting only the allowance of spirits’.


Nepean’s advice was relayed to Phillip, who was assured that the government had no intention of allowing the marines in New South Wales to be ‘constantly supplied’ with wine or spirits. The argument now threatened to scupper the whole colonial enterprise. As the final provisions were being taken on board, the marines on the Scarborough wrote a desperate petition to their commanding officer, explaining that they had ‘voluntarily entered on a dangerous expedition replete with numberless difficulties’ and were ‘sorely aggrieved’ to discover that the government was planning to withdraw their liquor allowance after their arrival in New South Wales, a ‘moderate distribution of the above-ment’d article being indispensably requisite for the preservation of our lives’. Reminding Major Ross of the ‘calamities’ they expected to encounter in the new colony, they begged him to use his influence to remove the uneasiness they felt at the awful prospect of being denied ‘one of the principal necessaries of life, without which … we cannot expect to survive’.


Equally affronted and alarmed, the marines on the Charlotte urged the Admiralty to consider the hardships that ‘being thus deprived of our grog’ would subject them to on an ‘island’ where it would otherwise be impossible to procure liquor. The marines on the Alexander took it even harder, threatening to un-volunteer if their grog were taken away.


Governor Phillip and Major Ross both tried to intervene on the soldiers’ behalf. The day after the marines on the Scarborough submitted their petition, Phillip wrote to Nepean warning of the ‘very disagreeable consequences’ he anticipated from the marine garrison at Botany Bay ‘if they have not the same allowance of spirits … as the marines and seamen are allowed on board’.


It was as close to an ultimatum as Phillip could deliver, and it worked. Two days later, Nepean sheepishly informed him that Lord Sydney, ‘wishing … to remove every possible cause of dissatisfaction’, had recommended that the Lords of the Treasury authorise him to buy enough wine and spirits en route to Botany Bay to keep the marines happy for three years after landing, ‘at the expiration of which time it must be understood that no further supplies of that sort will be allowed’.


There was a strict cap on the government’s generosity: Phillip was allowed to buy as much spirits or wine as he could get for £200. But the backdown was enough to avert open mutiny by the marine corps – or at least to postpone it for a few years.


By the time the First Fleet sailed from Portsmouth, Phillip had got most of what he had asked for. Arthur Bowes Smyth remarked in his journal that ‘few Marines going out of England on Service were ever so amply provided for as these convicts are’.


As well as the 747,000 nails, 8000 fish hooks, 127 dozen combs, 589 women’s petticoats and 448 barrels of flour, room was found in the ships for a piano, a printing press, some puppies and kittens, and a small cask of raisins. According to Captain Teer, the hardworking agent for transports at Deptford, the ‘Provisions and accommodations’ of the convict transports were ‘better than any [other] Set of Transports I have ever had any directions in’.


All this made it impossible for Phillip to find room for a last-minute consignment of grog. ‘No spirits can be received at present on board any of the ships,’ he told Nepean, ‘but the greatest economy will be used in purchasing as much as the ships can stow when in the Brazil.’


By early May the fleet was almost ready to depart. On the morning of Thursday, 10 May Phillip signalled to the remaining ten captains to prepare to sail the following morning. Smyth, on the Lady Penrhyn, reported, ‘An order sent on board all the Ships for All Dogs to be sent on Shore.’


The weather turned bad that afternoon and, instead of sailing, the fleet spent the next day ‘very busy in compleating their Bread & Water’. On Saturday an order was given that no man would be allowed to leave his ship – an order that apparently did not apply to Smyth, who ‘Went in the Afternoon with Capts. Campbell & Sever to Ryde & return’d abt. 9 o’Clock’.


On Sunday Phillip got the breeze he was after. By now he was so anxious to depart that he left some desperately needed women’s clothes behind. He would not even wait for the fresh bread he had ordered to come out of the oven, settling instead for a batch he described as ‘good, tho’ coarse’, which could be loaded at once.


Under a blue sky, and with a brisk easterly wind filling its sails, the First Fleet slid along the English coast, accompanied by the Hyaena, which had orders from the Admiralty to see the fleet ‘100 leagues to the westward’.


Among the 582 male convicts was 33-year-old James Squires. On 11 April 1785 Squires had been found guilty at the Surrey Lent Assizes of stealing ‘4 cocks, 5 hens & divers other goods & chattals the property of John Stacey’. He was sentenced to be transported for seven years. This was not his first brush with the law. In 1774 Squires had been arrested for highway robbery after escaping from a ransacked house, thereby avoiding the more serious charge of stealing. Sentenced to be transported to America for seven years, he chose to do his time in the army and was able to return to Kingston upon Thames as a free man, having served just two years. In 1776 Squires married a woman named Martha Quinton. A year later Squires and Martha took up lodgings in a house near the river. A son, John, was born on 16 August 1778; a daughter, Sarah, two years later on 23 August; and another son, James, on 2 May 1783.


Although Squires appears to have had a lawful occupation as the manager of an inn, the income was not enough for him to be able to support his wife and three children, and he fell back into crime. Stealing John Stacey’s chickens seems to have been an act of desperation; Stacey lived in the same street and Squires must have been an obvious suspect. His arrest and conviction brought the family’s destruction. Since it was almost impossible for the wife of a transported convict to accompany him, Squires sailed to New South Wales without his family. Neither his wife nor his three children would ever see him again.


It was not only the convicts who were separated from their families. While the detachment of marines was accompanied by a party of 46 wives and children, the majority of soldiers embarked alone. As the fleet passed Plymouth, Lieutenant Ralph Clark scribbled plaintively in his journal, ‘Oh my God all my hopes are over of Seeing my beloved wife and Son.’




2


I never lived so poor in my life


Strolling the crowded deck of the slow-sailing Charlotte, Captain Watkin Tench noticed that the convicts’ faces ‘indicated a high degree of satisfaction, though in some, the pang of being severed, perhaps for ever from their native land, could not be wholly suppressed’. Tench observed a few of the women shedding tears but ‘after this the accent of sorrow was no longer heard’; genial skies and a change of scene put an end to the convicts’ discontent and replaced it, according to Tench, with ‘cheerfulness and acquiescence in a lot, now not to be altered’.


While the government’s critics were eager to denounce the Botany Bay scheme as ‘big with folly, impolicy, and ruin’, Tench was convinced from the beginning of its ‘humane and benevolent intention’. The ‘high degree of satisfaction’ he observed in the convicts reflected his own feelings as much as theirs.


But not everyone was as satisfied as Watkin Tench. The English coast was scarcely out of sight when the sailors on the Friendship went on strike for an extra half a pound of beef a day. The agent in charge of provisioning the fleet was hastily summoned on board to find out what the matter was. After being assured that the crews of the other transports were all receiving the same amount of beef, the men on the Friendship ‘agreed to goe to work again … but if any Ship in the fleet gives ther Ships Company more they are to expect the same’.


According to Lieutenant Clark, it was lust, not hunger, that caused the sailors to strike. ‘I never met with a parcel of more discontent fellows in my life,’ he wrote, ‘the[y] only want more Provisions to give it to the damed whores the Convict Women of whome the[y] are very fond Since they brock throu the Bulk head and had connection with them.’


Industrial peace restored, the fleet sailed on. Acting on ‘favourable representations’ made by some of his officers, Phillip agreed to the removal of the convicts’ fetters. Tench felt ‘great pleasure in being able to extend this humane order to the whole of those under my charge, without a single exception’.


Tench’s benevolent attitude to the convicts was not shared by all his brother officers. ‘This lenient step towards making those unhappy wretches comfortable was very ill received in the Scarborough,’ reported First Lieutenant William Bradley. Clark was equally unhappy: ‘Capt Merideth and Self don’t think is [safe] for so great a number to be out of irons at once.’


The captains of the six transport ships must have had serious misgivings at the sight of convicts wandering the decks without fetters, since each captain was liable to a penalty of £40 for every convict who escaped. After protesting to Phillip, the captain of the Friendship was told to let the convicts out of their shackles ‘when we think proper and on the [smallest] falt to put them in again’.


As the fleet made its way into the Atlantic Ocean, it became clear that some of the ships were better sailers than others. Ten of the 11 ships under Phillip’s command were six years old or less, and a large amount of money had been spent adapting and outfitting them for the long voyage to Botany Bay. From the deck of the flagship Sirius, however, the first impressions of the colony’s deputy judge advocate, David Collins, were damning: ‘At our outset we had the mortification to find that two of our convoy were very heavy sailers, and likely to be the occasion of much delay.’ The Charlotte had to be taken in tow by the Hyaena, while the Lady Penrhyn was soon falling far behind.


As Phillip struggled to hold his fleet together, the first escape attempt was discovered. A plot was said to have been hatched among the convicts on the Scarborough to mutiny and take possession of the ship. The mutiny was thwarted when one of the convicts turned informer and betrayed his friends. Two alleged ringleaders were taken onto the Sirius, where the boatswain’s mate gave each of them two dozen lashes before they were transferred in irons to the Prince of Wales.


The so-called ringleaders ‘stedfastly denied the existence of any such design as was imputed to them’. John White, the surgeon-general, called it a ‘futile scheme’ and noted that, after they had been punished, the ‘ringleaders … behaved very well’. Tench, the eternal optimist, made no mention of the incident.


On 3 June, exactly three weeks after leaving the Mother Bank, the fleet reached Tenerife. Tench found little to admire on the Spanish-governed island. ‘Excepting the Peak,’ he wrote, ‘the eye receives little pleasure from the general face of the country, which is sterile and uninviting to the last degree.’


David Collins was more impressed. A sucker for a tall story, he was taken in by the Canary Islanders’ tales of a homeland so benign that no venomous creature could survive there, ‘several toads, adders, and other poisonous reptiles, which had been brought thither for proof, having died almost immediately after their arrival’.


Governor Phillip was told of ‘a miraculous tree’, solitary and perpetually shrouded in mist, that grew on the neighbouring island of Ferro and was able to supply the island with all the water it needed. A former government spy, experienced at weighing up intelligence, Phillip enjoyed the story enough to include it in his book, without believing a word of it. ‘This wonder,’ he noted wryly, ‘though vouched by several voyagers, and by some as eye witnesses, vanished at the approach of sober enquiry, nor could a single native be found hardy enough to assert its existence.’


Phillip’s main purpose in stopping at Tenerife was to replenish water and buy provisions, especially fresh meat and vegetables. Unfortunately, both were in short supply. Phillip had more success topping up the fleet’s dwindling stock of wine, of which the marines were getting through ‘a pint … per man, daily’. Tenerife was also good for spirits. Brandy, noted Tench, was a ‘cheap article’.


As the fleet prepared to leave the island, a convict on the Alexander, John Powers, managed to jump ship and escape in a small boat tied alongside. Drifting in the dark, Powers made his way towards a Dutch East Indiaman that had just anchored in the harbour. He begged her crew to take him aboard, but they understood the diplomatic niceties and would have nothing to do with an escaped convict, even though they needed men. ‘Having committed himself again to the waves,’ wrote Surgeon White, ‘he was driven by the wind and the current, in the course of the night, to a small island lying to leeward of the ships, where he was the next morning taken.’ Clapped in irons and taken before the governor, Powers pulled out an ‘artful petition’ written for him by another convict and ‘so wrought on the Governor’s humanity as to procure a release from his confinement’.


Phillip’s account of the escape said much about his worldly and compassionate approach towards the convicts. ‘It is not probable,’ he wrote, ‘that [Powers] had formed any definite plan of escape; the means of absconding must have been accidentally offered, and suddenly embraced.’


As time went on, Phillip’s calculated tolerance and his willingness to give convicts the benefit of the doubt would bring him into bitter conflict with the marines. For now, however, there were more pressing matters to worry about.


The fleet left Tenerife early on 11 June 1787, heading for Rio de Janeiro. The scarcity of fresh meat and vegetables at Tenerife forced everyone on to a diet of salt meat, increasing the risk of scurvy. When adverse winds brought the fleet almost to a standstill, Phillip had to cut the allowance of fresh water to officers, seamen, marines and convicts alike. Surgeon White on the Charlotte watched in horror as the dreaded scurvy took hold. Without plentiful fresh water to counteract the effects of the salt meat, the disease raged through the transports ‘with such hasty and rapid strides, that all attempts to check it proved fruitless, until good fortune threw a ship in our way, who spared us sufficient quantity of water to serve the sick with as much as they could use’.


The renewed supply of fresh water, added to an abundant store of essence of malt, ‘made in a few days so sudden a change for the better in the poor fellows, who had been covered with ulcers and livid blotches, that every person on board was surprised’.


Phillip’s intention had been to stop at the Cape Verde Islands but, finding the wind and current against him, he decided to sail on, reaching Rio de Janeiro on 5 August.


Captain John Hunter, a future governor, considered the fleet ‘remarkably healthy. The whole number buried since we left England was sixteen, six only of that number had died between Tenerife and this place … Many of those whom we had lost since we left Portsmouth had been lingering under diseases which they were afflicted with when they embarked. Consequently little hope could be entertained of their recovery.’


For those still suffering from the effects of scurvy, Rio proved the ideal place to recuperate. Phillip ensured that the convicts were plied with oranges, ‘this fruit being in such plenty that the expence attending the purchase of a few for each individual a day was too inconsiderable to be noticed. Indeed it was no uncommon thing to see the country boats, as they passed the ships, throw in a shower of oranges amongst the people.’


Unhappily for the marines, it proved to be the wrong season in which to buy wine. The only sellers were the Portuguese retail dealers, whose prices were considered by the British to be extortionate. With a relatively paltry £200 in Treasury bills to spend, the careful Phillip baulked at their demands, buying less wine than he needed. Some of the shortfall was made up for in rum, although again the cost caused Phillip some anguish. ‘[T]he rum on our coming in,’ he informed Nepean, ‘there being little in the place, rose more than five-and-twenty per cent.’


After nearly two months at sea, the female convicts’ threadbare clothing was virtually falling off them. Lacking replacements, Phillip was forced to improvise. He bought ‘one hundred sacks of casada [tapioca]’, which he intended to issue to the convicts once the supply of bread was exhausted. The coarse burlap sacks containing the casada ‘will be used hereafter in cloathing the convicts, many of whom are nearly naked’.


The ready supply of fresh meat and vegetables, oranges, limes, bananas, ‘cocoa nuts’ and guavas at Rio de Janeiro quickly removed ‘every symptom of the scurvy’. Phillip reported with satisfaction that ‘provisions were here so cheap that … the men were victualled completely … at threepence three-farthings a head’.


In recognition of his years of service as a captain in the Portuguese Navy, Phillip was treated by the Portuguese viceroy of Brazil as an honoured guest. His officers were allowed to walk the streets of Rio without the normal military escort. While they wandered around the town admiring the architecture and seeking out ‘tender’ attachments with the local beauties, the marines and convicts got down to their old tricks.


Despite the bulkheads designed to keep the female convicts apart from the seamen and marines, ‘promiscuous intercourse’ between them proved impossible to prevent. One Thomas Jones was sentenced to 300 lashes for trying to induce a guard to ‘betray his trust in suffering him to go among the women’ but was let off due to his previous ‘good character’. Private Cornelius Connell was not so lucky, punished with 100 lashes ‘for having improper intercourse with some of the female convicts, contrary to orders’.


On the Friendship, Lieutenant Ralph Clark could not conceal his horror of ‘Sarah Mccormick … She is eat[en] up with the P[ox] … She is one of them that went throu the Bulk head to the Seamen – I hope She has given them some thing to remember her – never was ther a Set of greater rascals together than the[y] are – the[y] are ten thousand times wors than the convicts.’


Trouble of a different kind was brewing on board the Alexander, where Smyth noted that the crew and convicts were ‘very mutinously inclined’. They ‘threaten’d Capt. Sinclair & Mr. Long, the chief Mate, & Mr. Dunnivan 2d. mate … declaring they wd. do as they pleased for all Capt. Sinclair, who they sd. had no power over them, & who indeed appeared to have lost all Authority over his people’.


In the stifling heat below deck on the Charlotte, Thomas Barrett – a ringleader in the mutiny on the Mercury – and two accomplices had spent much of the Atlantic voyage coining quarter dollars ‘out of old buckles, buttons belonging to the marines, and pewter spoons’. When they arrived at Rio, the temptation to try out their handiwork proved irresistible. Barrett and his mates were soon passing their coins to food sellers who swarmed around the convict ships to trade from their canoes.


Barrett’s forgeries came to light almost immediately, when a boat manned by three Portuguese and six slaves came alongside the Charlotte with oranges, plantains and bread for sale. While haggling with the three Portuguese, the Charlotte’s officers discovered that one of the convicts, Barrett, had passed some fake quarter dollars. ‘The impression, milling, character … was so inimitably executed that had their metal been a little better the fraud … would have passed undetected,’ wrote Surgeon White. The forgery was all the more impressive since the convicts ‘never were suffered to come near a fire’ and ‘hardly ten minutes ever elapsed, without an officer of some degree or other going down among them’. Marines searched diligently but in vain for the apparatus used to make the coins. The forgers’ adroitness gave White ‘a high opinion of their ingenuity, cunning, caution, and address; and I could not help wishing that these qualities had been employed to more laudable purposes’.


Barrett’s punishment on this occasion must have been light, since White did not bother to record what it was. Three weeks later, however, James Baker, a private marine, received 200 lashes for trying to pass off one of Barrett’s coins. It was not the last time a marine would be punished more severely than a convict for the same offence.


The fleet left Rio de Janeiro on 4 September, with Phillip able to declare the convicts ‘much healthier than when we left England’. During their stay, ‘every Man had 2lb of fresh meat allowed him every day wt. plenty of Vegitables,’ wrote Smyth. If the food at Rio was excellent, the same could not be said of the water, which had a foul taste that suggested it would not keep long at sea.


Despite his complaints about the high price of liquor at Rio, Phillip laid in ‘one hundred and fifteen pipes of rum [more than 12,000 gallons or 54,000 litres] … for the use of the garrison’.


The ships were now to head back across the Atlantic, stopping at the Cape of Good Hope to resupply for the last time before striking out across the Indian and Southern Oceans for New South Wales.


They made the trip through huge seas. ‘[T]he ship rouls very much,’ wrote Ralph Clark. ‘[I]t blowd very hard all night … a great dele of water went between the decks and washt the marines out of ther beds.’ Four days later, he complained, ‘I never lived so poor in my life as we doe at this time – nothing every day except Salt Beef or Salt Pork – thank God we have got Some Rice in the mess otherwise I would Starve.’


On 5 October the fleet sailed through a thick fog that made it impossible for any of the ships’ lookouts to see each other. It drizzled constantly. In the damp and dismal conditions, tempers frayed. Two female convicts on the Friendship, Elizabeth Pugh and Rachel Harley, were put in irons, ‘the former for Qarling [quarrelling] and dirtiness and the latter for theft and dirtiness’. And it was not just the convicts who were quarrelling on that misnamed ship. ‘Mr F. got very much in licour then came on board where he begane to abuse me in a very Publick manner to Capt. Meredith,’ complained Clark.


The weather worsened. During a squall, one of the convicts on the Charlotte fell overboard ‘& was drown’d notwithstanding every means was employ’d to save him’. Despite ‘gales’ and ‘mountenous’ seas, the fleet managed to stay together, although the Supply was often far ahead of the rest.


Early on the morning of 13 October, the Supply hoisted her ensign to indicate that she had sighted land. By one o’clock in the afternoon, Ralph Clark had a clear sight of the high ground rising above the Cape. Anchored in the bay were one Dutch sloop of war, a Dutch East Indiaman and two French East Indiamen.


The spectacle that greeted them on shore would have made the convicts relieved to be the subject of British rather than Dutch justice. Numerous gallows and other ‘impliments of punishment’ stood along the shore in front of the town. They included wheels for breaking felons. The mangled bodies of the sufferers had been left to rot, their severed right hands nailed to the side of the wheel as a terrible warning to others.


For Phillip and his officers, Cape Town was a disappointment after Rio. By comparison with the hospitable Portuguese, the Dutch colonists at the Cape were skinflints, dour and suspicious of foreigners. Food, as always, was an overriding preoccupation, and the British had arrived in the wrong season to enjoy the Cape’s famed tropical fruits. ‘The oranges and bananas were not equal to those of Rio de Janeiro,’ noted Collins. Even the currency was an annoyance, the flimsy paper notes often being ‘torn from our hands by the violence of the south-east wind, when we were about to make a payment in the street, or even at the door of a shop’.


The meat, however, was ‘excellent’, and between official duties Collins found time to investigate the local wine, which ‘formed a considerable article of traffic here’.


Resupplying at the Cape had been a key part of Phillip’s plans. But the governor, Mynheer Van Graaffe, despite his ‘extreme civility and politeness’, was cagey about selling Phillip the provisions for which he asked. There was, in any case, not enough room aboard the ships to store all that he wanted and needed.


Phillip’s priority was the livestock that would form the basis of a government herd after the fleet landed in New South Wales. Tench catalogued the purchase of ‘two bulls, three cows, three horses, forty-four sheep, and thirty-two hogs, besides goats, and a very large quantity of poultry of every kind’. In addition, the officers bought animals for their own private use, although the high prices demanded by the Dutch for feed forced them to ‘circumscrib[e] their original intentions … few of the military found it convenient to purchase sheep, when hay to feed them costs sixteen shillings a hundred weight’. (At home, the cost of hay was around 40 shillings a ton.) Even at that price, Smyth reported that ‘a large quantity, when it came to be opened, was so rotten as to be totally unfit for use, and was thrown overboard’.
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